1956

Leara Ann Deveraux v. General Electric Company and Harold J. McKeever : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal by plaintiff from a judgment of no cause of action (195) entered in favor of defendants notwithstanding a verdict was rendered by a jury in plaintiff's favor for \$5,465.00 (190A).

This is an action to recover for personal injuries suffered by plaintiff in an automobile collision which occurred on the north slope of Lindon Hill in Utah County, State of Utah. Defendant McKeever was an employee of defendant General Electric Company and was driving his automobile in the course of his employment (5). After a trial to a jury, a verdict was returned in favor of plaintiff and against defendants, assessing general damages in the sum of \$5,000.00 and special damages in the sum of \$465.00 (190A).

A judgment was entered May 25, 1955, in favor of plaintiff on this verdict. Thereafter the court entered an amended judgment cutting the special damages to \$199.90 (190), leaving a total judgment of \$5,199.90 (191). Defendants moved the court to set aside the verdict and to enter a judgment in favor of defendants in accordance with their motion for a directed verdict and that if that motion be denied to set aside the judgment and grant a new trial (192). November 21, 1955, the trial court granted defendants' motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and denied the motion for a new trial (194). Pursuant to this order a judgment was entered of no cause of action against plaintiff. From this judgment plaintiff appeals.

The review presented by this appeal relates only to defendants' liability. No question arises concerning damages. We will not discuss the injuries or damages which plaintiff suffered. Suffice it to say that in the collision she received injuries to her back, abdomen and head.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The scene of this case is laid in Utah County in and between Provo and Orem, and on the highway a little to the north. This action arises out of a collision between defendants' northbound automobile as it ran into the left side of plaintiff's automobile as she was making a "U" turn. This was on June 30, 1954 between 10:00 and 10:30 p.m.

*

Earlier that evening plaintiff discovered her husband's Packard car in front of the home of a Mrs. Frances Smith in Provo (95). After talking with the police, plaintiff had this automobile towed to the Hilltop Garage in Provo. When Mr. Devereaux learned, while at work, that his automobile had been towed away, he left work (144). He went to the home of Mrs. Smith. She borrowed an automobile and drove him to the garage (156). Mr. Devereaux was getting his automobile as plaintiff drove up (81). Mrs. Smith then left in the automobile she had borrowed and Mr. Devereaux then left in his own, whereupon plaintiff started in a northerly direction on the highway leading from Provo to Orem. This was about ten P.M. (81). Mr. Devereaux drove to the home of Mrs. Smith and picked her up (156). The next time plaintiff saw Mr. Devereaux was in Orem in the vicinity of Kirk's Drive-Inn. Mrs. Smith was in the automobile with him. He drove or swung his automobile at plaintiff's automobile a couple of times (82). Plaintiff decided to drive off the highway on the right hand side (82). Mr. Devereaux then drove his car in front of hers. She put on the brake

and just barely hit the Packard on the left-hand side (83). Mr. Devereaux stepped out of his automobile and came towards plaintiff. At that time a highway patrolman passed by going in a northerly direction on the highway. Plaintiff started her automobile after him, honking her horn in an attempt to attract his attention (83). The patrolman finally pulled over to the side of the road and plaintiff did likewise (84). Plaintiff informed the officer of the difficulty she had been having and he told her he would take her back and for her to follow him (84). The officer, Charles H. Allred, testified (29) :

“A. Yes sir. I took and planned an escort for the lady, and told her that I would go back with her to see that everything was safe, and to follow my automobile after I had put the controls on, and stay right behind me, and we would get a break in the traffic, and I would escort her back to the City of Orem.”

The controls were the big oscillating dome lights on the roof of the patrol car. This light was red. It turns in all directions and can be seen from all directions (29). The officer looked for safety. He did not drive out into the traffic until the drivers could discern his signals (30). Automobiles both north and south bound, respected the light and gave the officer the right of way by stopping (30-42). He then made a “U” turn to proceed southerly.

At the time plaintiff drove over to the side of the road, her lights were on and she did not turn them off (85). With her signal lights, she signaled a left-hand turn. She looked both ways and did not see an automo-

bile. She went to make the turn and an automobile hit her automobile on the left side between the door and the rear fender (85). The officer testified he made the turn and plaintiff attempted to follow behind him. When he had completed his turn, he heard the crash as another automobile was propelled into plaintiff's automobile (30). At the time of the crash, the officer was on the west side of the highway in about the outside lane (39). He was headed south and had just completed the "U" turn and was just west of two stopped automobiles when he heard the crash. The officer did not see the collision or defendants' automobile before the crash (40).

Joseph L. Breeze, immediately before the collision, was driving an automobile northerly in the second lane of traffic from the center line for northbound vehicles. As he approached this particular area, he saw a red light on the side of the road about two or three hundred feet ahead of him. He pulled over into the center lane (66,67). The red light started to turn around in the middle of the road and he stopped to permit the turn to be made (67).

These happenings occurred on the slope of what is known as Lindon Hill. The officer estimated that he stopped about half way between the crest of the hill and the bottom (36,37).

Defendant McKeever lived in Salt Lake City and was an employee of defendant General Electric Company. He had spent the afternoon and early evening playing golf at the Country Club in Provo. He played from two o'clock until approximately eight or eight thirty. After

he came into the club house he had a couple of drinks of whiskey (134). He left the golf club about nine o'clock and went to dinner. He left the restaurant at approximately ten o'clock and started north on highway 91 towards Salt Lake City (135). He testified that he was driving northward at approximately fifty miles an hour when he came over the rise of a hill and then things happened so fast that his recollection was hazy (136). He knew, as he was driving along, that he was approaching a hill and he knew that there was more danger in driving toward a hill than merely driving along a straight level road (140). When he reached the crest, he saw automobiles at an estimated two hundred feet ahead of him (136, 140). He saw the officer's car with the light on top (140). He was driving in the lane closest to the middle of the road. He observed a car stopped in that lane and turned to the right to avoid hitting it. He clipped it as he passed and then collided with plaintiff's automobile (67,141).

Highway patrolman Neldon Evans made measurements after the collision. From debris and brake marks and marks from that point to where the cars finally came to rest, the officer determined the location of the point of impact. There is a driveway east of the highway which appears on Exhibit 4. He placed the point of impact seven feet north of the north edge of this driveway and seven feet east of the line dividing the two north-bound traffic lanes (55). These lanes were twelve feet wide. Brake marks extended from the point of impact in a southerly direction for sixty feet. At the southerly

point of these brake marks, the western most started about a foot from the center line of the highway and extended in a diagonal direction to the point of impact in the eastern lane of northbound traffic (56). The officer estimated the point of impact to be from two to three to four hundred feet from the crest of the hill (60).

Plaintiff's automobile came to rest facing in an easterly direction forty-four feet north from the point of impact to the side of the automobile and ten feet nine inches east from the middle line of the northbound traffic lanes to the rear of plaintiff's car (58). McKeever's automobile also came to rest heading in an easterly direction. The side of his automobile was twenty feet north of the point of impact. The rear end of his automobile was two feet seven inches east from the middle line of the northbound traffic (57,58).

Patrolman Evans talked with McKeever at the scene of the collision. McKeever said that he was going between fifty and sixty miles per hour and that he was within two hundred feet of the danger when he first noticed it (52,53). The patrolman could smell alcohol on his breath. He staggered a little and his talk was a little thick (53,54). Because of this, the patrolman questioned him about drinking. He told the officer that he had gone to Provo for supper and had a few drinks. He was asked where he was and he stated that he was at Draper, and that he remembered going past the point of the mountain (53,54). The place where the collision occurred is some twenty to twenty-five miles south of Draper.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

PLAINTIFF WAS DENIED HER RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTION AND APPLICABLE AUTHORITIES.

POINT II

THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE INTRODUCED WHICH WOULD SUPPORT A FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NEGLIGENT IN THE OPERATION OF THE AUTOMOBILE AND THAT SUCH NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CAUSED PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING PLAINTIFF GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF WAS DENIED HER RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTION AND APPLICABLE AUTHORITIES.

The trial court submitted this case to the jury for its verdict. It returned a verdict in favor of plaintiff. Thereafter the court granted defendants' motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and entered judgment in favor of the defendant no cause of action. To support this ruling it must be found that the evidence was entirely insufficient to support a finding in favor of plaintiff and required a judgment for defendants. This ruling denies to plaintiff her right to a jury trial.

This Court in *Stickle v. Union Pacific R. Co.* (Utah) 251 P. 2d 867 (1952) made a splendid statement of the right of a citizen to a trial by a jury. This Court there stated:

“The court should exercise caution and forbearance in considering taking questions of fact from the jury.

“In our democratic system, the people are the repository of power whence the law is derived; from its initiation and creation to its final application and enforcement, the law is the expression of their will. The functioning of a cross-section of the citizenry as a jury is the method by which the people express this will in the application of law to controversies which arise under it. Both our constitutional and statutory provisions assure trial by jury to citizens of this state.

“Courts, as final arbiters of law, could arrogate to themselves arbitrary and dangerous powers by presuming to determine questions of fact which litigants have a right to have passed upon by juries. Part of the merit of the jury system is its safeguarding against such arbitrary power in the courts. To the great credit of the courts of this country, they have been extremely reluctant to infringe upon this right, and by leaving it unimpaired have kept the administration of justice close to the people. Of course, the rights of litigants should not be surrendered to the arbitrary will of juries without regard to whether there is a violation of legal rights as a basis for recovery. The court does have a duty and a responsibility of supervisory control over the action of juries which is just as essential to the proper administration of justice as the function of the jury itself. Never-

theless, we remain cognizant of the vital importance of the privilege of trial by jury in our system and deem it our duty to zealously protect and preserve it."

Another excellent statement of the rule is found in *Newton v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 43 Utah 219, 134 Pac. 567, 570.

"Where, therefore, the circumstances are such that it may reasonably be said that different minds, in viewing and considering the evidence, might arrive at different conclusions with respect to whether or not the injured person exercised ordinary care, the question of negligence must of necessity be determined as one of fact and not of law. While the substance of the foregoing statement is often found in the books and may be said to be a correct statement of the doctrine, yet such statements often leave the reader in doubt whether a given case falls within or without the doctrine. But, notwithstanding this, it is impossible to formulate a rule by which all cases can be determined.

"All that can be said is that, unless the question of negligence is free from doubt, the court cannot pass upon it as a question of law; that is, if after considering all the evidence and the inferences that may be deduced therefrom the court is in doubt whether reasonable men in viewing and considering all the evidence, might arrive at different conclusions, then this very doubt determines the question to be one of fact for the jury and not one of law for the court. The court can pass upon the question of negligence only in clear cases. All others should be submitted to the jury. The reason of this is apparent from the fact that in this state all questions of fact are for the jury;

and therefore, unless it is clear that in viewing and considering the evidence reasonable minds might not arrive at different conclusions, the case should go to the jury."

We submit the ruling of the court that the evidence was insufficient and required a judgment for defendants, constitutes a plain violation of plaintiff's right to a trial by jury secured to her by the Constitution of the State of Utah and by the foregoing authorities.

POINT II

THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE INTRODUCED WHICH WOULD SUPPORT A FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NEGLIGENT IN THE OPERATION OF THE AUTOMOBILE AND THAT SUCH NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CAUSED PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

We do not anticipate that there will be any contention made by defendants that the evidence was insufficient to support a finding that defendant McKeever was guilty of negligence as he drove his car in a northerly direction and into the automobile of plaintiff.

By Instruction No. 4 (11-12) the trial court submitted two grounds of negligence. One was speed and the other failure to keep a proper look-out.

The testimony established that the highway at this point was in a fifty mile speed zone (53). Defendant McKeever admitted to the police officer that he was driving between fifty and sixty miles per hour. Under applicable statutes this was prima facie evidence that McKeever was driving at a speed which was not then

reasonable, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, section 41-6-46. On his cross examination he admitted he knew he was approaching a hill and knew that there was more danger approaching a hill than merely driving along a straight, level road (140). He took no precautions to bring his car under control so that he could stop it within the range of his vision. As a matter of fact, he clipped the bumper of another car which had previously stopped to permit the police car to make the "U" turn. After clipping this car, he went on into the other lane of traffic and into the car driven by plaintiff. The statutes of this State require that a driver shall drive at an appropriately reduced speed when approaching a hill crest, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, section 41-6-46 (c).

The conduct of the driver, Joseph Breeze, indicates that if defendant McKeever had been driving at a proper speed and had been keeping a proper lookout he would have been able to discern the situation that existed and would have been able to bring his automobile to a stop short of colliding with plaintiff.

The evidence shows that Breeze saw the police car 200 or 300 feet ahead of him, yet plaintiff laid down only 60 feet of brake marks indicating that he must not have been keeping a proper lookout or did not take steps to bring his car under control and reduce its speed to a reasonable one under the facts and circumstances which faced him.

We believe that there was sufficient evidence to submit to the jury the proposition that defendant McKee-

ver was under the influence of intoxicating liquor and, hence, was negligent in that regard. The evidence indicated that he talked thick, that he staggered a little and that he smelled of liquor (53, 54). He believed that he was at Draper and stated he had passed the point of the mountain, when, as a matter of fact, he was twenty to twenty-five miles to the south of that point and had not reached the point of the mountain or Draper.

The evidence supports a finding of proximate cause. If defendant had kept a proper lookout he would have been able to stop or bring his car under proper control and thus avoid the collision. A reasonable rate of speed would have permitted him to bring his car to a stop and thus avoid the collision. This evidence supports a finding of proximate cause.

We have concluded not to make any extensive arguments on this proposition. Our remembrance is that defendants did not contend an insufficiency of evidence to support a finding of negligence on defendants' part and proximate cause. However, we feel it necessary to refer to this evidence because the trial court in granting the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict did not specify the particular ground upon which he ruled.

We submit the evidence supports a finding that defendants were negligent, proximately causing plaintiff's injuries.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING PLAINTIFF

GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The record does not indicate the ground upon which the trial court ruled. Based upon comments of the trial court and the argument of counsel, it is our belief the trial court ruled that plaintiff was guilty of negligence as a matter of law and that such negligence as a matter of law proximately caused plaintiff's injuries. Ordinarily, these two questions are questions which should be submitted to a jury for its consideration. The burden of proof, or as it is sometimes known, the burden of persuasion, is upon defendant to satisfy the jury by a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiff was guilty of negligence and that such negligence proximately caused her injuries.

The recent case of *Coombs v. Perry*, 2 Utah 2d 381, 275 P. 2d 680 (1954) has made a very clear statement of the test which must be applied to the evidence here. It is there stated:

“The test we apply is whether from all of the evidence reasonable minds could fairly say that they were not convinced by a preponderance of the evidence that she failed to use reasonable care under the circumstances and that this resulted in proximately contributing to cause her injury. Or, to state the proposition affirmatively, was the evidence so clear and compelling that all reasonable minds must say that it was established by a preponderance of the evidence that she was negligent and that such was a proximate cause of her injuries?”

Also in *Stickle v. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, (Utah) 251 P. 2d 867 (1952), the Court set forth the tests which should be used in considering a contention such as is made by defendants in the case at bar:

“It should be kept in mind that so far as the quantum of proof necessary to take the question of contributory negligence from the jury is concerned, the tests are the same as with respect to primary negligence. For instance, in a given case, there may be *some* evidence upon which a finding of negligence by the defendant *could* be based, yet the jury may remain in such a state of mind that they may fairly say that they are not convinced by preponderance of the evidence that the defendant was negligent, and based upon such failure of proof may refuse to find a verdict against him. It would only be when the defendant’s negligence had been established with such certainty that all reasonable men must conclude that he did not exercise reasonable care, that the court would rule as a matter of law that he was negligent and direct the jury to find a verdict against him; conversely, if evidence were such that reasonable men may fairly say that they are not convinced from a preponderance of the evidence that he was guilty of negligence, the court could not rule that he was negligent as a matter of law and take the case from the jury.

“These principles apply in identical fashion to the question of plaintiff’s contributory negligence except that the defendant has the burden of proof. That the evidence is such that the jury *may* find from a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff failed to use due care for his own safety is not sufficient. The proof must establish his failure to do so with such certainty that

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