1956

Leara Ann Deveraux v. General Electric Company and Harold J. McKeever : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF WAS NOT DENIED HER RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTION AND APPLICABLE AUTHORITIES.

POINT II

IT IS ADMITTED THAT THERE WAS EVIDENCE INTRODUCED WHICH WOULD SUPPORT A FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NEGLIGENT IN THE OPERATION OF THE AUTOMOBILE AND THAT SUCH NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CAUSED PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

Plaintiff, in this appeal, argues two matters that are not germane to the issues raised by the appeal, namely, (a) the sufficiency of the evidence of plaintiff to establish the negligence of defendant; and (b) an alleged error of the trial court in giving instruction No. 5, as argued by plaintiff commencing at page 16 of the brief.

The order granting the motion of defendant for judgment notwithstanding the verdict was upon the ground of contributory negligence of plaintiff, as preserved and argued by defendant in his motion to dismiss at the conclusion of plaintiff's case, and in the motion for directed verdict at the conclusion of the entire case, both of which motions were taken under advisement by the trial court. (R. 182, 192 and 195.) For the purposes of those motions

and the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the sufficiency of the evidence to establish negligence of defendant was assumed. It was just a question as to whether plaintiff was contributorily negligent. Why plaintiff on this appeal argues a matter with reference to which there is no longer an issue in the case is not understandable, unless plaintiff hopes thereby to draw a red herring across the path of this court to divert its attention from the real issue, namely, the conduct of plaintiff in making a "U" turn across a busy highway just over the brow of a hill where the view of oncoming traffic was limited to a distance too short within which to stop.

Plaintiff made no motion for new trial on the ground of its alleged error in giving Instruction No. 5; the correctness of the instruction was not before the trial court upon the motion of defendant for judgment notwithstanding the verdict; and is not now before this court for review. This is another red herring and has no place in the appeal.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED DEFENDANTS' MOTION SETTING ASIDE THE VERDICT OF THE JURY AND ENTERING JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANTS, NO CAUSE OF ACTION.

As hereinbefore indicated, the sole issue on this appeal is the determination of the contributory negligence of the plaintiff as a matter of law. A review of the decisions of this Court leave little doubt as to the pro-

priety of the ruling of the trial court.

Cederloff v. Whited, 110 Utah 45, 169 Pac. 2d 777. This case has been cited and construed on several occasions with approval. This decision involved a defendant who was making a left turn colliding plaintiff's vehicle approaching from the opposite direction. This Court, through Justice Wade, stated:

“Section 57-7-133, U.C.A. 1943, provides: ‘(a) No person shall turn a vehicle from a direct course upon a highway unless and until such movement can be made with reasonable safety * * *.’ Defendant turned his car from a direct course in the highway into the lane of traffic intended for vehicles traveling in the opposite direction at a time when plaintiff's car was approaching in such close proximity that the collision occurred as soon as the front end of defendant's car had reached a few feet into plaintiff's lane of traffic. Had plaintiff's car run into the rear end of defendant's car after the front end thereof had entirely crossed plaintiff's course of travel, there might have been some question whether the turn could be made with reasonable safety, but under the facts in this case it is clear that as a matter of law the turn could not be made with reasonable safety, and the defendant was guilty of negligence. The defendant's testimony that he looked and did not see any car coming does not help his situation, because if he had paid attention to what was there to be seen he would have seen plaintiff's car coming, as it was approaching in the immediate vicinity, and there is no claim that it did not have proper lights. It is equally clear that such negligence of the defendant was at least one of the proximate causes of the accident. The accident was the immediate and direct result of this negligence, and

without such negligence it would not have occurred.

* * * *

“So under these circumstances plaintiff could not have avoided the accident, and defendant’s negligence was as a matter of law the sole proximate cause of the collision and resulting injury and the court erred in not so instructing the jury.”

The decision not only held that the maneuvers of the defendant were negligent as a matter of law but further held as a matter of law that such negligence was the sole proximate cause of the collision.

The Cederloff case, *supra*, was followed by the case of *Hart v. Kerr*, 110 Utah 479, 175 Pac. 2d 475, which again was a case where a motorist was turning to the left side of a highway when an accident occurred. Again, through Justice Pratt this Court stated:

“There seems to be rather an obvious conclusion at which to arrive from the evidence. Plaintiff knew defendant was coming fast (he testified 40 miles per hour); and plaintiff’s automobile was hit in front of its center—the conclusion: Plaintiff took a chance upon a faulty estimate of distances and speed and lost. Considering the duty imposed upon plaintiff by section 57-7-133 U.C.A., 1943, he clearly was at fault. We invite attention to our recent decision of *Cederloff v. Whited*, Utah, 169 Pac. 2d 777, where this section is discussed. In this case as in that the contact between the cars was such as to indicate that one party was too close at the speed he was going for the other to attempt a crossing. We are of the opinion that the principles of the Cederloff case are decisive of this case. The lower court properly directed a verdict of no cause of action.”

See also *Yeates v. Budge*, Utah, 252 Pac. 2d 220 and *French v. Utah Oil Refining Co.*, 117 Utah 406, 216 Pac. 2d 1002.

Graham v. Roderick, 32 Wash. 2d 427, 202 Pac. 2d 253, involved a collision when plaintiff was making a "U" turn in an intersection and that court in holding plaintiff negligent as a matter of law said:

"A 'U' turn movement, executed at an intersection within a city, is at best a more or less hazardous operation, often requiring considerable skill and vigilance to be safely executed, because of the fact that the operator engaged in such maneuver must observe and contend with traffic approaching from four directions.

"While both of the respondents in this instance testified that they looked to their left before proceeding into the cross-traffic of the arterial highway, they did not see appellant's automobile approaching, although it was there to be seen, nor did they stop before proceeding across the arterial.

"Respondents' principal contention and reason why they did not stop for, and give the right of way to, appellant's vehicle is that its lights could not have been burning, since they looked and saw none. The trial court made no finding that appellant's lights were not burning, although it did observe, in its memorandum opinion, that the lights 'may have been dim either from battery weakness or on low beam or on dimmers.' We can agree that such may have been the case, but, as appellant has pointed out, there is no evidence in the record to support any such theory.

"Because of this fact, we are left with a situation where the only rule which can be applied is

that a party will be deemed to have observed that which he necessarily would have seen if he had looked, and will not be absolved of the charge of negligently having failed to look, by testimony that he looked and did not see. *Paddock v. Tone*, 25 Wn. (2d) 940, 172 P. (2d) 481; *Stanley v. Allen*, 27 Wn. (2d) 770, 180 P. (2d) 90.”

Landfair v. Capital Transit Co., 165 Fed. 2d 255, involved a “U” turn by plaintiff. The United States Circuit Court of Appeals for Washington, D. C. used the following language in sustaining a directed verdict for the defendant:

“The facts giving rise to the suit follow. In the early evening of August 19, 1944, appellant was driving an automobile south on the west side of Fourteenth Street, in the Northwest section of the District of Columbia, and attempted a ‘U’ turn at a point north of Arkansas Avenue. This street is fifty feet wide, and traversing its center are two sets of streetcar tracks, one for northbound and the other for southbound traffic. Each set of tracks is four feet and eight inches wide with a ‘dummy’ space between of five feet and two inches. Appellant testified that she was traveling at a slow rate of speed, that she looked to the south for oncoming traffic and saw none, that she made the appropriate signal for her turn to following traffic, and then carefully attempted a ‘U’ turn and her automobile was struck broadside by a streetcar as she crossed the northbound tracks. She gave explicit testimony that her view to the south in the direction of the on-coming streetcar was sufficiently good to allow her to see clearly as far as Shepherd Street, three blocks to the south of the point where the collision occurred. Appellant further testified that she looked to the south and saw no oncoming vehicles as late as that

time when she was crossing the 'dummy' space between the car tracks, not more than five feet from the point of impact.

"The fact of the collision produces the inevitable conclusion that appellant must have seen the oncoming streetcar if she actually looked in its direction. *Northern Pacific R. Co. v. Freeman*, 174 U. S. 379, 19 Sup. Ct. 763, 43 L. Ed. 1014; *Miller v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 290 U. S. 227, 54 Sup. Ct. 172, 78 L. Ed. 285. The duty to look cannot be questioned. *Chicago R. I. & P. Railroad Co. v. Houston*, 95 U. S. 697, 24 L. Ed. 542. Under comparable circumstances this court has previously rejected such testimony as that given by the appellant, declaring contributory negligence on the part of the injured person as a matter of law. *Glaria v. Washington Southern R. Co.*, 30 App. D. C. 559; *Faucett v. Bergmann, et al.*, 57 App. D. C. 290, 22 F. 2d 718. These rules apply where the plaintiff's case is based upon an allegation of last clear chance. *Washington Ry. & Electric Co. v. Buscher*, 54 App. D. C. 353, 298 F. 675."

The principles involved were again repeated in the case of *Capital Transit Company v. Hedin*, 222 Fed. 2d 41, as follows:

"We conclude that under Maryland's statute and judicial decisions, it was Hedin's duty to yield the right of way to the bus approaching on Ager Road, not only at the entrance to that highway, not only at the entrance to the second or north-bound roadway, but also throughout his passage across the second roadway on which the bus was traveling. He cannot avoid this duty by saying he looked and did not see the bus. And the excessive speed he attributes to the bus, which he did not see, does not in the circumstances of this case excuse him for driving into its path. There was

no evidence upon which the last clear chance doctrine could have been applied. The District Court erred in denying appellant's motions. Upon remand, the verdict and judgment thereon should be set aside and judgment should be entered for the defendant."

Applying the standards of care and principles of law that are discussed in the foregoing authorities, it is clear that the plaintiff in this case was negligent as a matter of law and that such negligence proximately contributed to the collision if not the sole proximate cause by reason of definite undisputed facts as shown by this record.

In an attempt to explain away the fact that plaintiff failed to see that which was apparent and obvious, the idea of "distribution of attention" is injected under the authority of *Martin v. Stevens*, Utah, 243 P. 2d 747. That case involved giving some attention to multiple streets in an intersection. Here there is no such excuse. At the commencement of plaintiff's "U" turn her only consideration could have been in regard to the northbound traffic up to the time of impact which occurred in the easternmost lane for traffic traveling north. In this respect, this Court has already spoken on the subject in the case of *Smith v. Bennett*, 1 Utah 2d 224, 265 Pac. 2d 401. That case involved a pedestrian plaintiff who was struck while crossing the traffic lanes for eastbound traffic. In regard to the demands on plaintiff's attention the following language is used:

"Plaintiff cites a series of cases illustrated by *Martin v. Stevens*, Utah, 243 P. 2d 747; *Lowder v. Holley*, Utah, 233 P. 2d 350; *Poulsen v. Man-*

ness, Utah, 241 P. 2d 152, in which the questions of contributory negligence and proximate cause were held to be jury questions. A major dissimilarity exists between the facts of the case now before the court and plaintiff's authorities. In these cases we were concerned with situations such as intersectional accidents where the plaintiff's attention was demanded in more than one direction or in more than one place. Since his attention could not be in all places and in all directions at once, it was a question of human judgment as to how his attention should be distributed among the several competing demands. A question of fact for the jury was presented as to whether his distribution of attention was reasonable. In the instant case there was but one demand upon plaintiff's attention. There is no room for a reasonable difference of opinion as to where her attention should have been concentrated; it was incumbent upon her to observe the condition of approaching traffic. That she failed to use due care in doing so is manifest from the evidence."

The Smith case cites with approval, and all to the same effect, *Mingus v. Olsen*, 114 Utah 505, 201 Pac. 2d 495; *Sant v. Miller*, 115 Utah 559, 206 Pac. 2d 719; and *Cox v. Thompson*, Utah, 254 Pac. 2d 1047. It is undisputed in this case (as a matter of fact, it was presented in plaintiff's case) that at the time plaintiff started her "U" turn that the Breeze vehicle was stopped at that very place (R. 67, 68), and plaintiff did not see it (R. 108, 119) nor did she see the car of defendant McKeever (R. 108, 119). This is exactly the principle discussed in the foregoing authorities.

Appellant's brief discusses the activities of Officer Allred and Sec. 41-6-63, Utah Code Annotated 1953, and

it is most interesting. The Code provision requires a motorist to comply with a *lawful order* of a police officer. The conversation and arrangements were neither an order nor a lawful order and no exigency nor emergency existed. See *West v. Cruz*, 75 Ariz. 13, 251 Pac. 2d 311, and *Falasco v. Hulen*, 6 Cal. App. 2d 224, 44 Pac. 2d 469. Certainly, nothing of this sort could be apparent to the defendant McKeever, (R. 6, 16, 17, 18, 24). At the time of the collision Allred was way over on the west side of U. S. 91 facing and traveling south (R. 41). Nothing was stated in word or acts that would relieve plaintiff from exercising due care. Quite the contrary, plaintiff was warned by Officer Allred when he stated, "Now, let's be careful." (R. 47.) In no better language could plaintiff have been warned of the danger and hazards of the turn she attempted. Of course, the officer's judgment was lacking. He could have directed plaintiff to a safe and lawful place where the turn might have been made.

It appears upon a fair examination of this record that plaintiff's maneuver violated the provisions of Sec. 41-6-67 and Sec. 41-6-69, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and that such violations constitute negligence as a matter of law in addition to her lack of due care as previously discussed.

It seems unnecessary to argue the element of proximate cause. In all of the foregoing authorities this element was under consideration. Not only was the improper "U" turn unanimously regarded as the proximate cause of the collision but in this case as in *Cederlof v. Whited*, supra, it could properly be regarded as the sole

proximate cause.

Each and every authority cited by respondent is analagous, in point, and determinative of this appeal.

CONCLUSION

This Court stated in *Walker v. Peterson*, 3 Utah 2d 54, 278 Pac. 2d 291, that “*in all cases of collision, both drivers are required to exercise that degree of care which a reasonably prudent person under the circumstances would exercise for his own and others’ safety, and where the failure of a party to meet this standard is a contributing cause of the accident, no relief can be had on his behalf.*” (Italics added.) The facts of this collision and accident clearly and without doubt show that plaintiff woefully failed to meet the standard of care as required by the statutes of this State and the pronouncements of this Court.

Respondent submits that the judgment as it was finally entered by the trial court was the only proper judgment that could be so entered pursuant to law as it has been consistently determined by this Court.

Therefore, we respectfully urge that this Court sustain and affirm the action of the trial court.